THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Ralph P. Stroman, Special Referee  
Case No. 2009-CP-26-1909

Randy A. Beverly, LLC, and Donald Godwin, LLC, ..... Plaintiffs,

v.

Bucksville Farms, Inc., ..... Defendant and Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Randy A. Beverly and Donald Godwin, ..... Third-Party Defendants  
and Fourth-Party Plaintiffs,

v.

Benjamin J. Creel, individually and as surviving director  
of Bucksville Farms, Inc., ..... Fourth Party Defendant,

*OF WHOM*

Bucksville Farms, Inc., and Benjamin J. Creel, individually and  
as surviving Director of Bucksville Farms, Inc., are ..... Appellants,

and

## **QUESTION PRESENTED**

**Did the circuit court err in holding that the only remedies available to the seller for breach by the buyers were forfeiture of the earnest money and specific performance?**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This action was commenced by Randy A. Beverly, LLC, and Donald Godwin, LLC, respondents herein, against Bucksville Farms, Inc., an appellant herein, by service of a summons and complaint dated February 24, 2009. The plaintiffs as purchasers sought a declaratory judgment to the effect that the defendant as seller was in material breach of a contract for the purchase and sale of real estate, so that the contract was terminated. The defendant denied that it was in breach, counterclaimed for damages alleging that the purchasers were in breach, and filed a third-party complaint against Randy A. Beverly and Donald Godwin individually. When impleaded, Randy A. Beverly and Donald Godwin filed a fourth-party complaint against Benjamin J. Creel, individually and as surviving director of Bucksville Farms, Inc.

The case was referred to the Honorable Ralph P. Stroman, as Special Referee. The case was tried nonjury on January 12–13, 2012.

By order dated May 14, 2012 and entered on May 15, 2012, the court held that the agreement precluded an action for actual damages by the seller for breach of contract by the purchasers. The court held that the agreement was terminated and concluded without liability of either side to the other.

Appellants' timely motion for reconsideration was denied by order dated August 8, 2012 and entered on August 15, 2012.

Appellants received written notice of the entry of the order of August 8, 2012 on August 20, 2012, and served notice of appeal on September 18, 2012.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Bucksville Farms, Inc., a company of Benjamin J. Creel, an appellant herein, owned a tract of about 320 acres on U.S. Highway 701, south of Conway. When Mr. Creel offered the tract for sale to his uncle-by-marriage, Randy Beverly, a successful residential developer, Mr. Beverly decided that the parcel was too large for his interest. [R. 94.] Mr. Creel then listed the tract with a realtor. The realtor contacted Mr. Beverly again, this time proposing that the tract be purchased in stages over a period of several years. [R. 94–95.] Mr. Beverly discussed this possibility with Donald Godwin, with whom he had developed a dozen subdivisions in the lowcountry over the space of many years. [R. 270–71. See R. 83–85.] They were interested in this approach. Negotiations ensued.

On October 2, 2005, Mr. Creel (through his corporation) agreed to sell, and Mr. Beverly and Mr. Godwin (through their LLCs) agreed to buy, the Creel tract<sup>1</sup> in four separate transactions (“takedowns”) spaced a year apart.<sup>2</sup> [Def. Exh. 33, ¶ 22, R. 671.]

Wetlands are often an issue in lowcountry real estate development, and that was the case here. The extent of wetlands on the Creel property would greatly affect the purchase price. The price per acre of uplands was set at \$17,000 in the first takedown, \$18,000 in the second, \$19,000 in the third, and \$20,000 in the final takedown. The price per acre of wetlands would be \$1,000 regardless of when purchased. The agreement called for Beverly and Godwin to purchase at least fifty *upland* acres in the first takedown; then at least a second fifty a year later; then at least a third fifty a year later; and finally the balance of the tract a year after that. Thus, the fourth and final takedown would take place three years after the first one, without regard to its uplands content.

The first parcel was to be bought within fifteen days of the end of a 120-day

---

<sup>1</sup> Creel exempted from the sale his 40-acre homeplace, so the acreage being sold was roughly 280. The homeplace was to be identified on the boundary survey. [Agreement, Def. Exh. 33, ¶ 1, R. 663.] There has been no controversy as to the location of this retained parcel. [R. 105; 258; 338; Def. Exh. 31, R. Vol. II, Pocket Part.]

<sup>2</sup> “Beverly and Godwin” hereinafter refers to Mr. Beverly and Mr. Godwin and to their LLCs and related companies. “Creel” refers to Mr. Creel and to Bucksville Farms, Inc.

“feasibility period,” at the conclusion of which the buyers could rescind the transaction. [Def. Exh. 33, ¶ 7, R. 664.] If they elected to proceed, they were bound to purchase the entire tract in stages, as stated. The feasibility period would begin when Creel delivered “a Boundary Survey and Wetlands Survey by a professional surveyor licensed in South Carolina \* \* \* .”<sup>3</sup> [Agreement, Exh. 33, ¶ 7, R. 664.] This “feasibility period” provision of the agreement was left over from a draft of a sales contract originally written for another potential purchaser, Hall Development. [R. 95; 323–24.] Having already decided to buy the tract, Beverly and Godwin ignored the “feasibility period” protocol, and preparation for the first takedown proceeded apace.

Experienced lowcountry developers prefer to control the wetlands delineation process themselves, regardless of where the buy/sell agreement may place that duty. [R. 84; 128; 277; 342.] Beverly and Godwin had done that with all twelve subdivisions they had developed together [R. 342], and they did so here. [R. 84; 269.] They sought a bid from an environmental company, S&ME, with which they had done business before [R. 200], to delineate the wetlands on the entire 280-acre tract. [R. 479; 396.] They passed along to Creel the bid [Def. Exh. 1, R. 615] obtained from S&ME for this work — \$3,750 — since technically they were doing Creel’s work for him, and Creel was obligated

---

3

The draftsman must have known little of the wetlands delineation process. A “wetlands survey” is the *last* step — not the *first* step — in a process consuming a year or more. [R. 385; 420.] Although anyone can try his hand at wetlands delineation, there being no official qualification for that task [R. 187; 193], the usual process is for the landowner to employ a specialist, such as Charles Oates at S&ME. The specialist begins with “remote sensing,” an office job in which aerial photographs, soil surveys, tax maps and the like are overlaid to allow an approximate location of wetlands. [R. 190–92; 204; 300.] Next is the field work, where the wetlands boundaries are located and demarcated on the ground with flags. [R. 389.] The specialist then submits to the Corps of Engineers a “Request for Wetlands Determination” accompanied by a sketch (not a plat) of the wetlands. [R. 389–91.] With or without field work, the Corps determines the wetlands boundaries. If the proposed boundaries are approved, a professional land surveyor is employed by the landowner to survey the wetlands boundaries, flag to flag. [R. 385; 389–91. See Def. Exh. 28, R. Vol. II, Pocket Part.] Finally, the Corps approves the plat. [Def. Exh. 14, R. 640.] Thus, the “wetlands survey” by a land surveyor is the final step [R. 199] and may not happen until eighteen months after the process begins, as was the case here. The first takedown, in June 2006, and the second takedown, in June 2007, both took place before the “wetlands survey” was done in October 2007. [Def. Exh. 28, R. Vol. II, Pocket Part.]

to pay half the cost. [Agreement, Def. Exh. 33, ¶ 10(j), R. 665.] Creel responded favorably to the bid and thereafter took no active part in wetlands delineation. [R. 320.] Beverly and Godwin (acting through Southern Asphalt, a Godwin company [see R. 126]) accepted S&ME's proposal in January 2006 [R. 396] but instructed S&ME not to do its field work until the spring, when the property would be drier. [R. 102.]

Subject to minor conditions, the sales agreement allowed the purchasers to select the location of each successive parcel to be taken, with one exception. The parties agreed that the southwesternmost corner on U.S. 701 was not to be taken until the fourth and final takedown, which would include the purchase of everything remaining after the first three takedowns.<sup>4</sup> [Agreement, Def. Exh. 33, ¶ 22 (last sentence), R. 672; R. 97–99.] Unlike the rest of the tract, the southwestern corner was known to contain a substantial percentage of wetlands. Mr. Oates estimated that it contained about 50 wetlands acres. [See R. 426; 222; 374.] The reason for deferring its purchase until the end was to allow time for certain forestry management work — such as clearing existing ditches — in an effort to dry out the parcel to the extent possible before it changed hands. This would benefit both sides to the extent that the effort succeeded. Creel, the seller, would benefit because the purchase price was substantial for upland acres but nominal for wetlands acres. The purchase price would increase as wetlands became uplands. Despite an increase in purchase price, the purchasers also would benefit. An effort to dry the southwestern corner to the extent possible was Mr. Beverly's idea. [R. 481; 521.] Wetlands have little development value [R. 481], and forestry management work which tends to dry out the property would be

---

4

A map of the southwestern corner should have been attached to the contract of sale but was not, but there was no controversy as to its location. [R. 97–99.] Although it is not identified as such on the plat of the entire tract [Def. Exh. 28, R. Vol. II, Pocket Part], the southwestern corner consists of two parcels: North of Santee Cooper's transmission line is an unnamed parcel. This parcel was dubbed at trial "the asterisk tract" because counsel marked it at trial with an asterisk! [R. 179; 215; Def. Exh. 28, R. Vol. II, Pocket Part.] South of the transmission line is the second component of the southwestern corner, Parcel B. As noted, Beverly and Godwin could not take the southwestern corner until the fourth and final takedown. [Agreement, Def. Exh. 33, ¶ 22 (last sentence), R. 672.]

prohibited once the parcel changed hands for development. [R. 266; 275; 358; 481–83.]

Having hired S&ME to delineate the wetlands on the entire 280-acre tract, on March 8, 2006 Godwin's agent [R. 126; 259] instructed Charles Oates of S&ME to eliminate from delineation the southwestern corner.<sup>5</sup> [R. 212; 259.] Some drying would be attempted there before the fourth takedown, which would include that corner. [R. 102.] Beverly hired a contractor to do the work, and charged Creel for it at the second takedown. [Def. Exh. 9, line 517, R. 635.] Creel was not notified that the southwestern corner was removed from the delineation contract with S&ME, being left to think that S&ME had been hired to delineate everything. [R. 259; Def. Exh. 2, R. 626–28.]

Deferring delineation of the southwestern corner left about 222 acres to be delineated in preparation for the first three takedowns. [R. 132.] Oates did his field work on these 222 acres in a single day on April 10, 2006. [R. 212.] He submitted his wetlands determination request to the Corps on April 19th. [R. 212.] It was accompanied by supporting data sheets and by Mr. Oates' sketch delineating the wetlands.<sup>6</sup> [R. 90; 204; Oates dep. Exh. 10, figure 3, R. 704.] Oates had found only two acres of wetlands among these 222 acres. [R. 250.]

The purchasers wished to begin their multistage purchase in the part of the tract on Highway 701 nearest Conway. [Def. Exh. 3, R. 628.] They employed Carolina Land Surveyors to survey the parcel they wanted, containing a little more than fifty acres, and supplied a copy of the resulting first takedown plat to Creel before the closing on June 8,

---

<sup>5</sup>

See Exhibits 1, 2, and 3 to Mr. Oates' deposition, R. 693–95, showing how the southwestern corner was excluded from the initial work order to delineate the entire tract.

<sup>6</sup>

As the Court noted in *Spectre, LLC v. South Carolina Dep't of Health and Environmental Control*, 386 S.C. 357, 367–68, 688 S.E.2d 844, 849 (2010):

The term "delineate" is defined in part as ". . . represent by sketch . . . ." *Webster's Third Int'l Dictionary* 597 (2002).

2006. [Def. Exh. 29, R. Vol. II, Pocket Part.] Beverly and Godwin learned from their wetlands delineator, Mr. Oates, that he had found no wetlands on this first takedown parcel. However, since only the Army Corps of Engineers can make a definitive wetlands determination [R. 100], the parties agreed to figure the purchase price on the assumption that the parcel was entirely uplands, as Oates thought, with an adjustment to be made at the second takedown, a year later, if the Corps were to find any wetlands there. (The Corps of Engineers lagged eighteen months behind in issuing a formal wetlands determination letter in response to the submittal of Mr. Oates in April 2006.) Before the second takedown closing a year after the first, the Corps informally told Mr. Oates that he had missed 0.32 acre of wetlands on the first takedown tract. An adjustment in the second takedown purchase price was made accordingly, even though the Corps had yet to issue its formal wetlands determination letter.

In June 2007, the second takedown proceeded in much the same manner as the first. Beverly and Godwin selected a further fifty acres on 701 adjacent to the first parcel. A copy of the survey done for them by Carolina was delivered to Creel before closing. Oates had found no wetlands on this parcel when he delineated in April 2006 and neither did the Corps (although a formal wetlands determination letter was still five months away.)<sup>7</sup>

The sales price of the Creel property was favorable to Beverly and Godwin. After the second takedown, they sold to Connecticut investors a 50% interest in the first two takedown parcels at a per-acre price more than fifty percent greater than they had paid to Creel for these one hundred acres. [R. 121; Sciaretta dep. Exh. 4, R. 745.] Beverly, Godwin, and the Connecticut investors formed a new developer LLC, to which these two parcels were deeded. [Sciaretta dep. Exh. 6, R. 755.] The Connecticut investors took an

---

7

Although the purchasers had no right to choose land in the southwestern corner until the fourth takedown, Creel permitted Beverly and Godwin to include a 14-acre field on the asterisk tract as part of the second takedown. The parties were sure that no wetlands were present in this field. The 14-acre field is seen at the upper left of the asterisk tract on Defendant's Exhibit 31, R. Vol. II, Pocket Part. The field is bounded by 701 on the north and Shelley Farm Road on the east.

option from Beverly and Godwin to buy into the third and fourth takedowns on the same basis. [Sciaretta dep. Exh. 2, R. 661.] If the Connecticut investors were to exercise these two options, Beverly and Godwin would be gaining a half-interest in the property to be purchased in the third and fourth takedowns while paying only a third of the purchase price.

Beverly and Godwin commissioned engineering for residential development of the land taken in the first two takedowns, although no work on the ground was begun. [R. 91.]

The future course of the economy was part of the risk assumed by Beverly and Godwin in agreeing to purchase in stages so large a tract at a favorable price. The real estate market began its reversal soon after the second takedown in June 2007. [R. 519.] The Connecticut investors announced that they would not exercise their option to buy into the third takedown, scheduled for June 2008. [Def. Exh. 26, R. 660.] Even so, they were willing to participate in the third takedown as equal partners with Beverly and Godwin (but not at the inflated price they had paid for a share in the first and second takedowns). [Def. Exh. 27, R. 661.]

Even with outside support for half the purchase price of the third takedown, Beverly and Godwin decided to stop. As justification, they announced that Creel was in breach of the contract for two reasons. First, he had failed to deliver a “Boundary Survey and Wetlands Survey” under paragraph 7 of the agreement. Second, he had failed to obtain an official wetlands determination from the Corps of Engineers for the southwestern corner. [Def. Exh. 20, R. 650, and 22A, R. 654 (hand-written note of Mr. Godwin at bottom).]

A survey of the entire tract including the platted wetlands locations — less the southwestern corner — had been delivered to Beverly and Godwin by Carolina Land Surveyors in October 2007. [Def. Exh. 28, R. Vol. II, Pocket Part.] Creel was obliged to pay half the cost. [R. 321; Agreement, Def. Exh. 33, ¶ 10(c), R. 665.] This would have been included in his closing costs at the third takedown (if there had been one).

As noted, in April 2006 Mr. Oates had delineated the wetlands on all but the southwestern corner of the tract, Beverly and Godwin having deleted the southwestern

corner from their contract with S&ME without Creel's knowledge.<sup>8</sup> Beverly and Godwin now claimed that Creel's failure to obtain a wetlands delineation of the southwestern corner was a breach, as was his failure to obtain an official wetlands determination from the Corps of Engineers for the southwestern corner. [R. 116; Def. Exh 22A, R. 664.] "[Beverly and Godwin] insist that they will not proceed with the closing unless [Creel] provides an official certified Army Corps of Engineers wetlands delineation." [Def. Exh. 23, R. 655; R. 116.] Having renounced the agreement, Beverly and Godwin failed to perform further.<sup>9</sup>

In devising this pretextual claim of breach, Beverly and Godwin overlooked two elements of their purchase agreement: First, they had no right to purchase the southwestern corner until the *fourth* takedown — still a year away — not the third as they thought. Second, the contract provided that Creel had no obligation to obtain any wetlands determination from the Corps.

For the next takedown — the third — Beverly and Godwin had no right to take anything in the southwestern corner. They mistakenly thought otherwise.<sup>10</sup> [See R. 495;

---

8

Creel had been led to believe that Mr. Oates had delineated the entire tract, as he was originally employed to do. In April 2006, two months before the first closing, Beverly advised Creel that he and Godwin had "concluded our preliminary wetland evaluation \*\*\*." [Def. Exh. 3, letter of 4/18/06, R. 628.] Creel would naturally infer that the wetland evaluation having been concluded was Oates' evaluation of the *entire* tract, which S&ME had contracted with Godwin's agent three months earlier to perform. [Def. Exh. 2, R. 626–27, S&ME's proposal to delineate wetlands on all 280 acres.] Then, in March 2007, Beverly and Godwin told Creel that "our wetlands evaluation" had been submitted to and audited by the Corps of Engineers. [Def. Exh. 8, R. 634.] Again Creel was not told that the southwestern corner had been removed from Oates' delineation contract and hence had not been a part of the determination request made to the Corps.

9

The next step would have been for Beverly and Godwin to provide Creel with a survey of the property chosen for the third takedown. See Agreement, Def. Exh. 33, ¶¶ 9 & 16(b)(iii), R. 665 & 670. Such a survey would have identified the land in Parcel C or Parcel D (or both) to be purchased in the third takedown. (Parcels C and D were the only remaining parcels eligible for purchase in the third takedown. The Corps of Engineers had issued its wetlands determination for these parcels eight months earlier, in November 2007. [Def. Exh. 14, R. 640.]

10

On Defendant's Exhibit 11, R. 638, Mr. Beverly hand-wrote the phrase "Purposed [*sic*] 3<sup>rd</sup> phase" on the "asterisk tract," a part of the southwestern corner, further evidencing his erroneous belief that this property could be included in the third takedown. See  
(continued...)

108; 273; Def. Exh. 11, R. 638.] This corner was reserved to comprise part of the *fourth* and final takedown, at which time the buyers were to purchase the balance of the overall tract. In the year remaining until the final takedown, Creel could easily have obtained a delineation of the southwestern corner if Beverly and Godwin eschewed that self-appointed role themselves. Flagging the wetlands on the southwestern corner might take a day's field work by Mr. Oates and would likely cost less than the \$3,750 fee which his company had charged two years earlier for delineating the other 222 acres of Creel's property.<sup>11</sup>

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