THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Ralph P. Stroman, Special Referee
Case No: 2009-CP-26-12046

RECEIVED
APR 25 2013
COURT OF APPEALS

Randy A Beverly, LLC & Donald
Godwin, LLC ----- Plaintiffs
v.

Bucksville Farms, Inc. ----- Defendant & Third-Party Plaintiff
v.

Randy A. Beverly & Donald Godwin..... Third Party Defendants &
v. Fourth Party Plaintiffs

Benjamin J. Creel, individually & as surviving
director of Bucksville Farms, Inc..... Fourth Party Defendant

OF WHOM

Bucksville Farms, Inc. & Benjamin J. Creel,
individually & and as surviving director are..... Appellants

and

Randy A. Beverly, LLC. Donald Godwin, LLC

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

ARGUMENT:

I. Standard of Review:

An action to construe or interpret a contract is an action at law. Alexander's Land Company, LLC v. M&M&K Corp., 90 S.C. 582; 703 S.E.2d 207 (2010); Pruitt v. S.C. Med. Malpractice Liability Joint Underwriting Ass'n, 343 SC 335, 339, 540 SE2d 843, 845 (2001) An action for breach of contract seeking monetary damages is also an action at law. R&G Constr. Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth., 343 SC 424, 430, 540 SE2d 113 (Ct. App. 2000) In actions at law tried without a jury, the Trial Court's factual findings won't be disturbed on appeal unless the appellate court determines those findings to be made without evidence reasonably

supporting them. Karl Sitte Plumbing Co. Inc. v. Darby Dev. Co., 295 SC 70, 77, 367 SE2d 162, 166 (Ct. App. 1988) Unlike factual findings, a reviewing court may decide questions of law without giving particular deference to the Trial Court. Hunt v. Forestry Comm'n, 358 SC 564, 569, 595 SE2d 846 (Ct. App. 2004)

In the present case, Bucksville/Creel sold the subject property after the commencement of this litigation without notice to B&G. (R.p.117, 1.7-21) Therefore, Creel waived any right to specific performance, leaving all issues in the case relating to claims arising out of the contract. The sale also made this an action at law to construe or interpret the contract in light of the parties' claims.

II. The Trial Court found no ambiguities in the contract AND found that had ambiguities existed, they would have been construed against the Appellant, a licensed attorney whose attorney drafted the agreement:

In considering all the issues raised by the Appellant, it is important to emphasize the fact that the Trial Court's Order finds no ambiguities to exist in the parties' contract and provides that had any ambiguities existed, they would have been resolved against the drafter – the Appellant via his attorney. (R.p.3-9)

Construction of a clear and unambiguous contract presents a question of law for the Court. US Bank Trust National Association v. Bell, 385 SC 364, 684 SE2d 199 (Ct. App. 2009). Had the Court found any ambiguities in the contract, those ambiguities would have to be resolved against the drafter of the contract. WDI Meredith & Co. v. American Telesis, Inc., 359 SC 474, 597 SE2d 885 (2004). "As the drafter of the contract, WDI was in the best position to prevent confusion in the contract's construction and should be the party to suffer from its

shortcomings.” WDI Meredith & Co. v. American Telesis, Inc., 359 SC 474, 597 SE2d 885 (2004) citing Williams v. Teran, Inc., 266 S.C. 55, 60, 221 S.E.2d 526, 529 (1976)

In this case, Creel's attorney drafted the contract. (R.p.95, l.19-22; R.p.323, l. 20- p.324, l. 5) Further, Creel is an attorney, who is licensed but on inactive status. (R.p.499, l.19 --p.500,l.14 and p. 503; R.p.322, l.2- p.323, l.19) If there are any ambiguities about the availability of common law remedies to supplement Paragraph 20's "Default and Remedy" provisions or as being otherwise available to Creel under the contract, which the Trial Court did not find, then those ambiguities must be construed against Creel and the Trial Court's Order should stand.

III The Court should uphold and affirm the Trial Court's Order, which ruled on all issues on the merits and held that the unambiguous remedies' provision of the parties' contract limited the seller/Appellants' remedies to return of the earnest money or specific performance but that since the seller elected to sell the subject property during the pendency of the action, and the parties had consented to transfer the earnest money to the seller as part of one of the closings, neither remedy remained available to the seller/Appellants

The remedies provision of the contract states as follows:

20. Default and Remedy: If Purchaser has breached its covenants and agreements hereunder and has failed, refused or is unable to consummate the purchase and sale contemplated herein by the Closing Date, Seller shall be entitled to either: ***(i) retain the Earnest Money paid by Purchaser as and for Seller's liquidated damages for Purchaser's default or (ii) seek specific performance of this Agreement against the Purchaser.*** Notwithstanding the aforesaid, nothing herein shall be deemed to limit Seller's remedies for indemnification under Section 11. If Seller has breached its covenants and agreement under this Agreement and has failed, refused or is unable to consummate the purchase and sale contemplated herein by any Closing Date, Purchaser shall be entitled to: (i) terminate this Agreement and receive a full refund of the Earnest Money, or (ii) seek specific performance of this Agreement against the Seller, or (iii) in the event of a willful or intentional breach by the Seller, Purchaser may pursue any other remedy at law or in equity.

(R.p.671, ¶ 20)

First, Creel's contention that the remedies provision was limited to breaches that occurred by the FIRST closing date is refuted by the contract itself. The subject agreement refers to multiple closings on multiple dates. (R.p.663, ¶ 2, p.669-670 ¶16, p.671-672 ¶ 22) In fact, the contract is titled: "Agreement To Buy and Sell Real Estate In Multiple Closings." (R.p.663)

Further, Creel contends that the "Default and Remedy" provisions in Paragraph 20 of the contract are not the seller's exclusive remedies and that based upon these facts, principals of contract interpretation and South Carolina law, the Trial Court erred in finding the "Default and Remedy" provision in this contract to be exclusive. In actuality, based upon these facts, principals of contract interpretation and South Carolina law, the Trial Court ruled correctly and its Order should be upheld and affirmed.

Creel attempts to support his contentions by citing to a South Carolina case that holds that if there is no clear language in a contract to the contrary, then a nonbreaching party can seek a remedy provided by the contract or can sue for any other remedy available for breach. Bannon v. Knauss, 282 SC 589, 320 S.E.2d 470 (Ct. App. 1984) Additionally, Creel cites to inapplicable portions of the same decision about "forfeiture" clauses as being usually interpreted to give a nonbreaching seller the right to disaffirm the contract and keep the earnest money or to affirm the contract and sue for the purchase price. *Id*

Paragraph 20 of the subject contract, regarding "Default and Remedy, is an exclusive remedy under the contract and it contains "clear language" to the contrary of the general rule, taking it out of the scope of the Bannon decision. Paragraph 20 provides that the **seller** for any breach by the purchaser would be entitled to either – (1) retain the Earnest Money "as and for Seller's liquidated damages for purchaser's default" or (2) to "seek specific performance."

PARAGRAPH 20 THEN GOES ON TO SAY that “Notwithstanding the aforesaid, nothing herein shall be deemed to limit Seller’s remedies for indemnification under Section 11.” The paragraph goes on to give the **purchasers** the same remedies for a breach by the seller – and to add an additional remedy – **giving purchasers the right to pursue any other remedy at law or in equity if the seller committed an intentional or willful breach.** (R.p.671, ¶ 20)

A review of the “Default and Remedy” provision of Paragraph 20 shows that it is clearly intended to provide exclusive remedies to the parties. It gives the seller the right to keep the Earnest Money or seek specific performance but goes on to say that the seller can also seek indemnification per a prior provision of the contract. Paragraph 11 provided that after the contract was signed, the purchasers had an inspection period during which they could have surveys, inspections, environmental testing, delineations, market feasibility studies or any other investigation that the purchasers deemed reasonably necessary or desirable. (R.p.671, ¶ 20, p. 666 ¶ 11)

Paragraph 11 required the purchasers to indemnify and hold the seller harmless from any claims of any sort arising from these inspections or investigations and it stated that this right to indemnity would survive closing and the termination of the agreement. **There would be no reason for Paragraph 20 to refer to Paragraph 11 if Paragraph 20 were not intended to be an exclusive remedies provision. Yet, Mr. Creel’s lawyer, who drafted the agreement, said in Paragraph 20: “Notwithstanding the aforesaid” that the seller retained the right to indemnity given by Paragraph 11. Paragraph 11 already said that the right to indemnity would survive closing and/or termination – the only reason to bring it up in Paragraph 20 is that Paragraph 20 was intended to provide the exclusive remedies, so it had to refer back and incorporate Paragraph 11 because “indemnity” is a remedy.** (R.p.671, ¶ 20)

Additionally, Mr. Creel's lawyer specifically gave the purchasers the right to "pursue any other remedy at law or in equity" if the seller committed a willful or intentional breach of the agreement. The inclusion of this language in the remedy section was a deliberate drafting choice. It means that no one had the right to seek any other remedy "at law or in equity" unless a breach was willful and intentional and then it only gave that right to the purchasers. From a common sense perspective, this makes sense. If the purchasers defaulted, the seller would have the land and the ability to sell it later, but if the seller defaulted, the purchasers would not have that cushion, so the agreement gave the purchasers additional security in the event of a willful breach by the seller. If the remedy provision was not meant to be exclusive, then there is no basis for conditioning the purchaser's right to seek those remedies outside the agreement on a willful or intentional breach by the seller. **The fact that Paragraph 20 speaks to all of the otherwise available common law remedies and then only gives them to the purchasers and then conditions the availability of those remedies on a breach being "willful or intentional" means that the remedy provision of Paragraph 20 was intended to be exclusive.**

"The cardinal rule of **contract** interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties' intentions as determined by the **contract** language. Where the **contract's** language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the **contract's** force and effect." Alexander's Land Company, L.L.C. v. M&M&K Corporation, 390 S.C. 582; 703 S.E.2d 207; 2010 S.C. LEXIS 384 (2010) Based upon the plain language of Paragraph 20, the default and remedy provision was intended to be exclusive and does bar the parties from seeking any remedy not provided by the contract.

The Appellant contends that his position that the "Default and Remedies" provision of this contract is not exclusive is supported by Bannon v. Knauss, 282 SC 589, 320 S.E.2d 470 (Ct.

App. 1984) which Appellant claims provides that a liquidated damages clause is not an exclusive remedy unless the agreement clearly limits the party to that remedy. In making this argument, the Appellant misconstrues the Bannon holding and/or the Trial Court's holding in this case.

In Bannon, the purchaser in a real estate deal signed a "written offer on a standard form real estate contract" and the purchaser subsequently breached, refusing to close the deal. The seller sued for specific performance and then amended his complaint to seek damages after he sold the property for \$17,300 less to a third party. The purchaser claimed that that the seller's remedy was limited by the clause in the standard contract providing for forfeiture of the Earnest Money to be divided between the seller and his agent. *Id* The trial court disagreed and damages were awarded to the seller.

The SC Court of Appeals upheld the trial court, finding that the remedy provision in that case, involving a standard "form" real estate contract, was not intended to be the exclusive remedy. The Court said that **"In the absence of clear language in the contract to the contrary"** that a nonbreaching parties' potential damage award was not limited to the Earnest Money damages. The Court went on to say that the parties could enter a contract that limited damages to the Earnest Money and if it was reasonable under the circumstances, the Court would enforce it. The Court of Appeals examined the contract and found no language that would have made the remedy clause exclusive. *Id* at p. 59, 472

In Bannon, the standard contract was not drafted by a lawyer for either party. In the present case, the agreement between Creel and B&G contains "clear language to the contrary" and as to the reasonability of enforcing it against Creel (1) The Court's Order never held that B&G breached anything and in fact, Creel was the breaching party and (2) Creel's attorney

drafted the contract and crafted the remedy clause; Creel is a lawyer who would be held to understand the clause.

It is of note that the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals does not read the Bannon decision in the same fashion as Appellants, and considers that the case holds that under South Carolina law a purchaser can contract and limit its options upon the seller's breach. (R.p 600-602; p.606) In fact, the Fourth Circuit, in finding a remedial provision exclusive, noted that the provision in question provided that the buyer's remedies were not exclusive but the seller's remedies were exclusive. (R.p.600-602; p. 606) The Fourth Circuit held that this drafting difference was significant to its construing a specific remedies' clause as exclusive. *Id* The Fourth Circuit was not bothered by the absence of any "magic words" which it did not feel Bannon required.

In the present case, the contract also contained different language in the provisions dealing with remedies available to the buyer and the seller. The contract, drafted by Creel's attorney, gave B&G the right to pursue remedies outside the contract, and then only if the seller committed a willful and intentional breach – a fairly high standard. (R.p.671, ¶ 20)

In this case Creel's attorney knew how to provide for the nonexclusivity of remedies and did provide that to B&G, but only in the case of a willful and intentional breach by Creel – but Creel's lawyer did not provide the same to Creel. In this case, as in the one construed by the Fourth Circuit, the drafter of the subject contract didn't "flexibly design" the default and remedy provision to permit Creel to seek remedies outside the contract. And in this case, the drafter of the contract was Creel's attorney. (R.p.671, ¶ 20)

Additionally, common law remedies are not available to Creel, even if Bannon were construed as Appellant claims, because the Appellant, Bucksville/Creel, breached the contract, which is B&G's position. This Court's Order never held that B&G breached the contract. In

fact, the Trial Court held that because of the relationships involved, neither party abided by the strict terms of the contract and the acts of all parties were compelled by a dwindling economy and a difficult real estate market and did not constitute willful or intentional breaches (R.p.5, p. 8)

Creel is a licensed lawyer, and he admitted that he was responsible for providing the wetlands delineation under the contract and at no time did Creel ask that the Contract be amended or modified to make B&G responsible for the wetlands survey or delineation. (R.p.117, l. 22- p.118, l.13; p. 119, l 7 – p.120, l.17; R.p.520, l. 21-25) Instead of making any effort to have the survey and delineation done, as he was obligated to do under his contract with B&G, Creel sold the land in question to Larry Paul, for a reduced price that Creel never offered to B&G. (R.p.117, l.7-21)

B&G deny breaching the contract, but the Trial Court heard all of the evidence, appraised all the witnesses' testimony and credibility, and it found that because of the close relationships involved, none of the parties followed the strict terms of the contract. (R.p.5, p. 8) Under the “first breach” doctrine, in not providing the wetlands delineation he knew he was obligated to provide so that each takedown could be structured, Creel committed the first breach of the contract. (R.p.117, l.22- p.118, l.13; p.119, l.7 - p.120, l.17; p.520, l.21-25) Where a contract is not performed, the party committing the first breach is generally liable for all of the nonperformance. Silver v. Aabstract Pools, 376 S.C. 585, 658 SE2d 539 (Ct. App. 2008) As the breaching party, Creel would not be entitled to any remedies or damages, under the terms of the “Default and Remedy” clause of this contract, or otherwise.

For all of the foregoing reasons, this Trial Court’s Order was correct and should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION:

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